IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

REGINALD FOWLER

APPELLANT

v.

2007-KM-00881-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

APPEAL FROM THE FINAL JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI ENTERED MAY 1, 2007

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT, REGINALD FOWLER

Victor W. Carmody, Jr. (MSB # VICTOR W. CARMODY, JR., P.A. 499 South President Street Jackson, MS 39201 (601) 948-4444

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY ERRONEOUSLY DENIED APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO A TRIAL DE NOVO ON THE MERITS FOLLOWING HIS APPEAL FROM THE JUSTICE COURT, CONTRARY TO MISSISSIPPI LAW.
 - I(A). IS IT ERROR FOR A CIRCUIT COURT TO DENY A TRIAL DE NOVO TO AN APPELLANT WHO PLEADED GUILTY IN A JUSTICE OR MUNICIPAL COURT?
 - I(B). DOES A DEPRIVATION OF THE RIGHT TO FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS INHERENT IN THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE RESULT WHEN A CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY DENIES AN APPELLANT THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL DE NOVO?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of Case

This is an appeal from the final judgment of the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Mississippi in favor of the State of Mississippi ("State"), in which the Circuit Court affirmed the verdict of the Justice Court of Tunica County, which found the Appellant, Reginald Fowler ("Fowler"), guilty of the offenses of Careless Driving and Driving Under the Influence, First Offense. The Circuit Court entered an Order which dismissed Fowler's appeal for a trial de novo, and affirmed the Justice Court's verdict. (R. at 33-34; R.E. at 3-4.)

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

This case involves criminal charges brought by the State of Mississippi against Reginald Fowler. Fowler was charged with the offenses of Careless Driving and Driving Under the Influence, First Offense, on or about November 23, 2006, for an incident that occurred within Tunica County, Mississippi. (R. at 9-10.) He subsequently pleaded guilty to the charges and was found guilty in the Justice Court of Tunica County on December 20, 2006. (R. at 14.) Fowler signed a document stating that he waived his right to an attorney in accordance with the entry of his guilty plea. (R. at 13; R.E. at 6.)

Fowler thereafter retained counsel and appealed the Justice Court's verdict of guilty to the Circuit Court of Tunica County. (R. at 4.) The appeal was set to be heard as a trial de novo in the Circuit Court for the date of April 10, 2007. (R. at 17; R.E. at 5.) On this date, court was commenced in the Circuit Court and the Court denied a trial de novo for Fowler, instead ruling that Fowler had no right to appeal for a trial de novo as a result of his guilty plea in the Justice Court. (R. at 33-34; R.E. at 3-4.)

Being aggrieved by this judgment, Fowler filed a Motion For Reconsideration in the Circuit Court on April 25, 2007. (R. at 36-42.) On May 1, 2007, the Circuit Court entered an Order which denied Fowler's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. at 43; R.E. at 2.) Fowler, aggrieved by the disposition of the Circuit Court, now appeals to this Court. (R. at 45.)

C. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues

On or about November 23, 2006, Reginald Fowler was arrested and charged with the offenses of Careless Driving and Driving Under the Influence in Tunica County, Mississippi. (R. at 9-10.) He subsequently pleaded guilty to the charges and was found guilty in the Justice Court of Tunica County on December 20, 2006. (R. at 14.) Fowler signed a document stating that he waived his right to an attorney in accordance with the entry of his guilty plea. (R. at 13; R.E. at 6.)

Fowler thereafter retained counsel and appealed the Justice Court's verdict of guilty to the Circuit Court of Tunica County. (R. at 4.) In compliance with Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice 12.02(A), Fowler filed a timely Notice of Appeal as well an appeal and cash bond. (R. at 4.) The appeal was set to be heard as a trial de novo in the Circuit Court for the date of April 10, 2007. (R. at 17; R.E. at 5.) On this date, court was commenced in the Circuit Court and the Court denied a trial de novo for Fowler, instead ruling that Fowler had no right to appeal for a trial de novo as a result of his guilty plea in the Justice Court. (R. at 33-34; R.E. at 3-4.) In open court, the Court stated, "this Court is of the position that when they plead guilty in the lower court . . . they don't have the right to appeal." (T. at 3.) The Court entered an Order which states, in pertinent part:

At a hearing before this Court on April 10, 2007, the Court determined that the Appellant had knowingly, freely, and voluntarily entered his plea of guilty and there was no evidence to

the contrary. The Court also determined that a valid waiver of counsel had been executed by the Appellant.

The Court is of the opinion that there is no valid basis to set aside the guilty plea entered by the Appellant. One possible basis may have been that he was unrepresented by counsel before the Justice Court, but he signed a waiver stating that he understood he had the right to an attorney and freely and knowingly gave up that right.

Having been given no other basis by the Appellant as to why his guilty plea was not valid, the Court hereby finds that the plea was knowingly, freely, voluntarily, and understandably given and should not be set aside.

Accordingly, the decision of the Justice Court is hereby AFFIRMED. The appeal in this matter is hereby DISMISSED.

(R. at 33-34; R.E. at 3-4.)

Being aggrieved by this judgment, Fowler filed a Motion For Reconsideration in the Circuit Court on April 25, 2007. (R. at 36-42.) On May 1, 2007, the Circuit Court entered an Order which denied Fowler's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. at 43; R.E. at 2.) Fowler, aggrieved by the disposition of the Circuit Court, now appeals to this Court. (R. at 45.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court of Tunica County erroneously denied Fowler's right to a trial de novo on the merits following his appeal from the Justice Court for the following reasons. Fowler entered a plea of guilty to the offenses of Careless Drivng and Driving Under the Influence in the Justice Court, and thereafter perfected an appeal to the Circuit Court pursuant to the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice. Mississippi, by statute and rules of procedure, allows one adjudged guilty in a justice or municipal court the right to appeal to the County Court (or Circuit Court, if there is not a County Court, such as in this case). Further, Mississippi case law clearly recognizes the right of one to appeal a justice or municipal court conviction, even if one has pleaded guilty in a justice or municipal court. Fowler submits that the denial of such a right results in a deprivation of one's constitutionally protected right to fundamental fairness inherent in the right to due process.

For these reasons, Fowler prays that this Court will reverse the decision of the Circuit Court, and hold that he is entitled to a trial de novo on the merits.

ARGUMENT

The appropriate standard of review for findings of a trial judge sitting without a jury is the substantial evidence/clearly erroneous test. *Bray v. City of Meridian*, 723 So. 2d 1200, 1202 (Miss. App. 1998). Thus, an appellate court must look to "the entire record and 'must accept that evidence which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inferences therefrom and which favor the lower court's findings of fact." *Jones v. Jones*, 760 So. 2d 828, 829 (Miss. App. 2000). Accordingly, the findings of a circuit court judge, sitting without a jury, "are safe on appeal where they are supported by substantial, credible, and reasonable evidence." *Id.*

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF TUNICA COUNTY ERRONEOUSLY DENIED APPELLANT HIS RIGHT TO A TRIAL DE NOVO ON THE MERITS FOLLLOWING HIS APPEAL FROM THE JUSTICE COURT, CONTRARY TO MISSISSIPPI LAW.
 - I(A). IS IT ERROR FOR A CIRCUIT COURT TO DENY A TRIAL DE NOVO TO AN APPELLANT WHO PLEADED GUILTY IN A JUSTICE OR MUNICIPAL COURT?

Mississippi Code and Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice

Mississippi law holds that the right of one to appeal an adverse judgment of a court must be provided statutorily. *Mitchell v. Parker*, 804 So. 2d 1066 (Miss. App. 2001), rehearing denied, certiorari denied. Once the right to appeal is afforded by statute, rules of procedure which govern the right to appeal may be produced by the Supreme Court of Mississippi. *Id.* In criminal cases, Mississippi has enacted statutory and procedural law governing the right to appeal.

Section 99-35-1 of the Mississippi Code specifies that, "[i]n all cases of conviction of a criminal offense . . . by the judgment of a justice court, or by a municipal court . . . an appeal may be taken within forty (40) days from the date of such judgment of conviction" to the County Court, or to the Circuit Court if there is no County Court. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-35-1 (1972), as amended. (Emphasis added.)¹ The statutory language makes no distinction between an appellant who enters a plea of guilty or a plea of nolo contendere versus an appellant who is convicted after a trial on the merits. *Id.* The final sentence of § 99-35-1 states that the appellant is entitled to a trial de novo upon the appellant's appearance in the Circuit or County Court. *Id.*

Uniform Rule of Circuit and County Court Practice 12.02(A) states, "[a]ny person adjudged guilty of a criminal offense by a justice or municipal court may appeal to county court, or if there is no county court having jurisdiction, then to circuit court" URCCC 12.02(A). (Emphasis added.) This procedural rule, like § 99-35-1, does not distinguish between one who has pleaded guilty, one who has pleaded nolo contendere, or one who is found guilty after a trial. This rule grants an appellant the right to appeal an adjudication of guilty in a justice or municipal court to the Circuit Court because the appellant was adjudged guilty of a criminal offense. Id. (Emphasis added.)

Further, Rule 12.02 states, "[t]he appeal shall be a trial de novo" and "no motions may be allowed which deprive the accused of the right to a trial on the merits." URCCC 12.02(C). Neither the statute, § 99-1-35, nor the rule of court, URCCC 12.02(A), contain any exceptions which would prevent one from appealing a finding of guilty in a justice or municipal court to the appropriate Circuit Court regardless of how that adjudication was reached, provided that a timely

¹ While Miss. Code Ann. § 99-35-1 allows forty (40) days for an appeal from the date of a judgment of a justice or municipal court, this time period has been superseded with the adoption of the Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practice, adopted and effective May 1, 1995. URCCC 12.02(A) allows thirty (30) days for such an appeal.

notice of appeal is filed, as well as a cost bond and appearance bond, in accordance with the rules. Miss. Code Ann. § 99-35-1 (1972), as amended; URCCC 12.02(A).

Case Law

A line of cases beginning with *Bang v. State* holds that one who appeals a judgment of guilty from a justice court in Mississippi stands before the Circuit Court having jurisdiction as any other defendant accused of a criminal offense. *Bang v. State*, 106 Miss. 824, 64 So. 734 (Miss. 1914); *Parham v. State*, 220 So. 2d 582 (Miss. 1969); *Thigpen v. State*, 206 Miss. 87, 39 So. 2d 768 (Miss. 1949). Moreover, one's right to appeal a conviction in a justice court after entering a plea of guilty has been explicitly recognized in Mississippi jurisprudence.

The first reported opinion on this issue is *Neblett v. State*, which was an appeal from the Circuit Court of Tunica County to the Supreme Court of Mississippi. *Neblett v. State*, 75 Miss. 105, 21 So. 799 (Miss. 1897). In *Neblett*, the Supreme Court reversed the Circuit Court's dismissal of Neblett's appeal from his Justice Court conviction, where he pleaded guilty, and held that the law "makes no exceptions as to appeals, and provides that the trial in the circuit court shall be, not upon the justice court record, but de novo." *Id.*

In *Jenkins v. State*, the Supreme Court cited *Neblett* wherein it held that there is no prohibition against appealing to the Circuit Court following the entry of a guilty plea in a justice court. *Jenkins v. State*, 98 Miss. 717, 54 So. 158 (Miss. 1911), citing *Neblett*, 75 Miss. 105, 21 So. 799. See also *Little v. Wilson*, 189 Miss. 825, 199 So. 72, 73 (Miss. 1940) (citing *Neblett* and *Jenkins* in holding that notwithstanding one's plea of guilty in a justice court, he or she has the right to appeal to the Circuit Court for a trial de novo), and *Ball v. State*, 202 Miss. 405, 409, 32 So. 2d 195, 196 (Miss. 1947) (one who pleads guilty in justice court does not thereby estop himself from appealing to the Circuit Court).

The Case Sub Judice

In the case *sub judice*, the Circuit Court affirmed the Justice Court's adjudication of guilty on the charges of Careless Driving and Driving Under the Influence, and dismissed the appeal for a trial de novo. (R. at 33-34; R.E. at 3-4.) In its Order, the Circuit Court relies largely on the rationale that Fowler signed a form which waived his right to counsel in the Justice Court, as well as finding that Fowler entered his plea knowingly, freely, voluntarily, and understandingly. (R. at 33; R.E. at 3.)

The form which Fowler signed in the Justice Court on December 20, 2006 states, in pertinent part, "You have the right to hire an attorney of your choice to represent you on the said charge(s). If because of your poverty you are financially unable to hire an attorney of your choice, the Court will select and appoint on [sic] to represent you." (R. at 13; R.E. at 6.) The next paragraph of this form indicates that the signee has read and understood that he or she will be waiving his or her right to counsel, and is doing so without any promises or threats having been made. (R. at 13; R.E. at 6.) This form is silent regarding whether the accused is giving up any rights to appeal upon the entry of a plea of guilty. (R. at 13; R.E. at 6.)

Regardless of the fact that Fowler waived his right to be represented by counsel in the Justice Court, the clear matter is that Mississippi law allows one the right to appeal a guilty verdict in a justice court even if one pleads guilty. Section 99-35-1 and URCCC 12.02(A) provide no exceptions which bar appeals in such situations, and the Supreme Court of Mississippi has, in the past, recognized this right.

I(B). DOES A DEPRIVATION OF THE RIGHT TO FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS INHERENT IN THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE RESULT WHEN A CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY DENIES AN APPELLANT THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL DE NOVO?

Fowler submits an article from the American Law Reports for this Court's consideration.

Although not binding on this Court, it is persuasive on this issue of rare impression in Mississippi law:

In support of the view that a right of appeal exists despite the plea of guilty, it has been pointed out that justice of the peace and similar inferior tribunals are not, as a rule, courts of record, nor are the magistrates trained in the law. To preclude the right of appeal after a plea of guilty, some courts reason, would mean that a person would have to submit to a trial or else lose his rights of appeal. In other words, he would be forced to undergo the expense of two trials, although he may have predetermined that he would not abide the decision of the inferior court. Similarly, the government would have to carry the extra expense. Such courts appear to favor a doctrine which would permit the accused to plead guilty, thus saving the expense of trial, and then by appealing, have the actual trial in the appellate tribunal. A further argument for permitting an appeal after a plea of guilty is the requirement that, since the inferior courts are not courts of record, the cause be heard anew without regard to what transpired in the lower court. Since the trial upon appeal is de novo, it is reasoned, the plea of guilty, being a part of the record, should not be considered.

C.S. Parnell, Plea of Guilty in Justice of the Peace of Similar Inferior Courts as Precluding Appeal, 42 A.L.R.2d 995 (1955).

Although Mississippi justice courts are considered courts of record, there is no statutory provision which requires that official court reporters be provided to justice courts. Miss. Code Ann. § 9-11-15 (1972), as amended. For this reason, the Mississippi Code provides that the attorney of record may utilize a recording or stenographical device, at the attorney's own expense, to record the proceedings. Miss. Code Ann. § 9-13-32 (1972), as amended. As a result, it is a routine practice among attorneys practicing before the justice courts to have the

proceedings recorded at their own expense. This lesser degree of formality in the justice courts of Mississippi (i.e., no official court reporter is provided) is a sound basis for the allowance of appeals for trial de novo in the Circuit Courts, where court reporters are provided and where the proceedings are cloaked in formality.

The denial of a trial de novo in the Circuit Court, even after the entry of a plea of guilty in the lower court, deprives an appellant of his or her right to fundamental fairness that is inherent in the due process clause of the state and federal constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Miss. Const. art. III, § 14. "Fundamental fairness" has been defined as "the touchstone of due process," which was recently reiterated in dicta by this Court. *Pruitt v. State*, 953 So. 2d 302, 305 (Miss. App. 2007), quoting *Gagnon v. Scarpelli*, 411 U.S. 778, 786, 93 S.Ct. 1756, 36 L.Ed.2d 656 (1973). Thus, fundamental fairness requires that one who appeals a judgment of guilty in a justice or municipal court must have an opportunity to present his defense fairly and fully in a trial de novo in the Circuit Court.

CONCLUSION

For the above and foregoing reasons, the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Mississippi

erred when it improperly denied Reginald Fowler his right to a trial de novo. By statute,

Mississippi law gives one the right to appeal a criminal conviction rendered in a justice court,

and there are no statutory or procedural prohibitions against appealing for a trial de novo, even if

the appellant pleaded guilty in the lower court.

Further, Mississippi case law has recognized that an appellant is not estopped from

appealing an adjudication of guilty in a lower court for a trial de novo in the Circuit Court,

notwithstanding that the appellant pleaded guilty. A denial of such a right infringes upon

fundamental fairness that is the touchstone of due process. For the reasons specifically set forth

above, Reginald Fowler respectfully requests that this Court reverse the Order of the Circuit

Court of Tunica County and order that Fowler is entitled to a trial de novo on the merits.