### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**REGINALD FOWLER** 

**APPELLANT** 

**FILED** 

VS.

DEC 0 5 2007

NO. 2007-KM-0881

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

REGINALD FOWLER, a forty-six-(46)-year-old Caucasian male (Exhibit 3), prosecutes an appeal from the Circuit Court of Tunica County, Mississippi, Albert B. Smith, III, Circuit Judge, presiding.

One (1) issue is raised on appeal to this Court:

"The Circuit Court of Tunica County erroneously denied Appellant his right to a trial *de novo* on the merits following his appeal from the Justice Court, contrary to Mississippi law." (Brief of the Appellant at ii, 1, 6)

Victor W. Carmody, Jr., a practicing attorney in Jackson, represented Fowler quite effectively in the circuit court and on appeal as well.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the 23<sup>rd</sup> day of November, 2006, Reginald Fowler, a resident of Memphis, received a traffic citation on Highway 61 in Tunica County for careless driving and DUI, first offense. (Vol. I - C.P. at 9-10; Supp. Vol. at 3-4; Exhibit 3)

On December 21, 2006, Fowler entered a voluntary plea of guilty in Justice Court to both DUI, first offense, and careless driving. (Vol. 1 - C.P. at 14) Fowler, who voluntarily waived his right to a lawyer (Vol. 1 - C.P. at 13), was fined \$503.00 for DUI and \$50.00 for careless driving and assessed court costs. (Vol. 1 - C.P. at 14) Fowler was also ordered to spend 48 hours in jail, suspended, followed by 11 months and 29 days probation and participation in the MASEP program. (Vol. 1 - C.P. at 14)

On January 10, 2007, the justice court judge issued an order denying Fowler's motion to set aside judgment. (Supp. Vol. at 7)

Fowler subsequently executed an appeal bond (Supp. Vol. at 16) and appealed to the circuit court for trial *de novo* "... pursuant to Rule 12.02 of the Mississippi Uniform Criminal Rules of Circuit Court Practice." (Supp. Vol. at 16)

On January 16, 2007, the case was set for trial for Tuesday, April 10, 2007. (C.P. at 17) A subpoena was issued on March 30, 2007, for the law enforcement officer involved in filing the charges. (C.P. at 30)

Fowler never got to trial. Rather, following a brief hearing on April 10<sup>th</sup> the circuit judge opined "... that when they plead guilty in the lower court, ... that they don't have the right to appeal." (R. 3) Judge Smith entered an order on April 16, 2007, finding as a fact and concluding as a matter of law that Fowler's plea of guilty was freely and voluntarily entered and affirming the decision of the justice court. (C.P. at 33-34; appellee's exhibit A, attached.

On April 25, 2007, Fowler filed a motion for reconsideration of the order of the court dismissing Fowler's appeal. (C.P. at 36-39) It was denied on May 1, 2007. (C.P. at 43)

On May 1, 2007, Fowler, feeling aggrieved over the ruling of the trial court dismissing his appeal, filed his notice of appeal to this Court. (C.P. at 44-45)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appeals from justice court to circuit court are tried *de novo*, and require that the State go forward with the burden of proof of beyond a reasonable doubt. **Meeks v. State**, 800 So.2d 1281 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001). *See also* **Ferrell v. State**, 785 So.2d 317 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001) citing Rule 12.02 Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules.

We are inclined to agree with Fowler that by pleading guilty in justice court, he did not waive, forfeit, or surrender his right to a trial *de novo* on the merits. **Ball v. State,** 202 Miss. 405, 32 So.2d 195, 196 (1947); **Jenkins v. State,** 98 Miss. 717, 54 So.158, 159 (1911).

#### ARGUMENT

WE AGREE WITH APPELLANT THAT BY PLEADING GUILTY IN JUSTICE COURT, FOWLER DID NOT WAIVE HIS RIGHT TO TRIAL *DE NOVO* IN COUNTY OR CIRCUIT COURT.

Miss.Code Ann. §99-35-101 reads as follows:

Any person convicted of an offense in a circuit court may appeal to the supreme court, provided, however, an appeal from the circuit court to the supreme court shall not be allowed in any case where the defendant enters a plea of guilty.

A rational argument could be made by analogy that an appeal to the circuit court will not lie where, as here, the defendant enters a plea of guilty in justice or police court.

Rule 12.02 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, and Miss.Code Ann. §99-35-1,

on the other hand, would seem to contradict and/or dispel this theory.

Fowler, citing both rule 12.02, and 99-35-1, contends the circuit court abused its judicial discretion in dismissing his appeal for trial *de novo*. (Brief of the Appellant at 1, 5) Claiming neither the rule nor the statute makes a distinction between a conviction following trial by jury and a conviction via guilty plea, he argues he was entitled under the law to a trial *de novo* as opposed to a review and determination of the voluntariness of his guilty plea. (Brief of the Appellant at 7)

"\* \* \* Mississippi, by statute and rules of procedure, allows one adjudged guilty in a justice or municipal court the right to appeal to the County Court (or Circuit Court, if there is not a County Court, such as in this case). Further, Mississippi case law clearly recognizes the right of one to appeal a justice or municipal court conviction, even if one has pleaded guilty in a justice or municipal court. Fowler submits that the denial of such a right results in a deprivation of one's constitutionally protected right to fundamental fairness inherent in the right to due process." (Brief of the Appellant at 5)

Put another way, Fowler argues that neither the rules of procedure nor our statutes distinguish between a guilty plea, a *nolo* plea, or a judgment after a hearing in the justice court; they simply say that any one adjudged guilty of a criminal offense in the justice court may appeal to the county or circuit court having jurisdiction for a trial *de novo*.

Prior decisions of this Court appear to suggest, if not assert outright, that Fowler is correct. See Meeks v. State, supra, 800 So.2d 1281, 1283 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001) ["Appeals from justice court in circuit court are tried de novo, and still require that the State go forward with the burden of proof of beyond a reasonable doubt."]; Ferrell v. State, supra, 785 So.2d 317, 319-320 (Ct.App.Miss. 2001) citing McGowan v. State, 181 Miss. 42, 45, 178 So.2d 594, 595 (1938) which stated "... that a misdemeanor case brought to the circuit court by appeal is there triable de novo, and the person charged has the same right to a trial by an appearance and defense through the agency or his attorney."]

We find in Little v. Wilson, 189 Miss. 825, 199 So. 72, 73 (1940), the following:

An appeal may be had to the Circuit Court, or to the county court where there is one, and a trial there had *de novo* from a conviction in the court of a justice of the peace or police justice, even though the defendant may there have plead guilty. *N[e]blett v. State*, 75 Miss. 105, 21 So. 799; *Jenkins v. State*, 96 Miss. 461, 50 So. 495.

Thirty years earlier, in **Jenkins v. State**, 98 Miss. 717, 54 So.158, 159 (1911), the Court opined:

\* \* \* By section 87, Code 1906, persons convicted of criminal offenses are given the right of appeal to the circuit court, where there is a trial *de novo*. It is held in *N[e]blett v. State*, 75 Miss. 105, 21 South. 799, that a person pleading guilty to a criminal offense before a justice of the peace is not barred from appealing to the circuit court. On the trial in the circuit court the state may introduce the record of the justice of the peace, showing the plea of guilty, as testimony tending to establish the guilt of the defendant. Such record, however, is not conclusive of guilt. The defendant may contest it after having pleaded not guilty.

Finally, in **Ball v. State**, 202 Miss. 405, 32 So.2d 195, 196 (1947), this Court, citing **Jenkins**, stated the following:

In the case at bar, the appellant as defendant in the court of the justice of the peace, pleaded not guilty, but was convicted and fined, as pointed out *supra*. However, even if he had pleaded guilty in the justice court, he would not thereby have estopped himself from appealing to the circuit court. *Jenkins v. State*, 98 Miss. 717, 54 So.158. [emphasis ours]

See also Neblett v. State, supra, 75 Miss. 105, 21 So. 799 (1897).

Accordingly, we respectfully submit this case should be reversed and remanded for trial *de novo*.

### CONCLUSION

Judge Smith found there was "... no basis to set aside the guilty plea entered by the appellant and ... affirm[ed] the lower court judgment based on the records from the Justice Court." (R. 8)

Fowler, on the other hand, vigorously argues this cause should be remanded for trial de novo.

We submit the question to this Court for resolution of the issue fully, fairly, and finally.